FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
9/2/2021 8:00 AM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/3/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 54313-3-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

٧.

DEMARCUS WILLIAMS, Petitioner

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF PIERCE COUNTY THE HONORABLE JUDGE TIMOTHY ASHCRAFT

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Marie J. Trombley, WSBA 41410 PO Box 829 Graham, WA 253-445-7920

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Demarcus Williams, the appellant below, asks the Court to review the decision of Division II of the Court of Appeals referred to in Section II below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Demarcus Williams seeks review of the Court of

Appeals unpublished opinion entered on August 3, 2021.

A copy of the opinion is attached as an appendix.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. A criminal defendant maintains a statutory right to make a personal argument or statement to the sentencing court and present information in mitigation of sentence. It is an opportunity to plead for mercy from the court. RCW 9.94A.500(1).
 - 1) Did the Court of Appeals incorrectly hold that because Mr. Williams was represented by counsel, his request during allocution for an exceptional downward sentence amounted to a hybrid representation and was therefore not a valid request to the trial court?
 - B. Did the trial court abuse its discretion when it did

not expressly consider an exceptional downward sentence based on youthfulness?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nineteen-year-old DeMarcus Williams pleaded guilty to assault in the first degree with a deadly weapon on November 28, 2017. CP 1;11-20. The court imposed 179 months of confinement. CP 30. He successfully sought postconviction relief based on an incorrectly calculated offender score. CP 40; *In the Matter of Personal Rest. of Demarcus Williams*, 10 Wn.App. 2d 1013 (2019).

On remand, the counsel for both parties asked the court to impose a low-end sentence. CP 45,104; RP 1, 16. Defense counsel noted that Mr. Williams was barely 19 years old at the time of the offense and asked the court to impose a low-end sentence based on the science of brain development in adolescents, and the changes Mr.

Williams made in his life as he matured into a man. RP 8-9.

During allocution, Mr. Williams described himself as an adolescent "who was actively taking steps toward self-betterment." RP 12. He told of a misdiagnosis of mental health issues at around 12 years old, which began a cycle of committing crimes to get money to purchase drugs and being sent to JRA. At JRA he experienced isolation and depression and upon release became involved in increasingly violent situations. He described his PTSD. RP 11-13. He took large amounts of Xanax because the medication was the only thing that made him feel "normal." RP 13.

Mr. Williams asked the court to consider the age of culpability, 17-25 years, and that he was just now becoming a man. RP 15. He described having grown up in a neighborhood that housed Tacoma's most violent gang members and their children. He described his

cousins as violent gang members. RP 14. He asked the court to consider his youth, the societal and family influences on him, and his mental health struggles when imposing sentence. RP 14.

In conjunction with his oral allocution, Mr. Williams submitted to the court a document entitled "Defendant's Handwritten Sentencing Document" requesting an exceptional downward sentence. CP 122-128. He detailed the law requiring the court to consider his age, family environment, and immaturity, and its application to his case. The Court of Appeals later referred to the document as "a handwritten motion". *Slip. Op.* at 1.

The sentencing court acknowledged it appreciated Mr. Williams taking the time to learn about himself and encouraged him to continue a rehabilitative path. RP 16. The court did not expressly indicate it considered the handwritten sentencing document Mr. Williams had prepared for the court as part of his allocution, or any of

the factors to which Mr. Williams allocuted. Nor did the court acknowledge its authority to consider the factors in sentencing. CP 122-128.

The court followed the recommendation of counsels and imposed the low end of the range, 111 months plus 24 additional months for the deadly weapon. RP 16; CP 114.

Mr. Williams made a timely appeal. CP 130. He asked for remand with instruction for the sentencing court to exercise its discretion in considering an exceptional downward sentence in line with *State v. O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d 680, 358 P.3d 359 (2015).

On review, the Court of Appeals reasoned remand was unnecessary because Mr. Williams' advocacy for an exceptional downward sentence contradicted his counsel's sentencing recommendation: "In the absence of a request to proceed pro se, no valid request for an exceptional downward sentence occurred and the trial

court therefore acted within its discretion when it imposed a standard range sentence." *Slip Op.* at 2,7.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

 The Right To Allocute Is Authorized By Statute And Is Not Satisfied By Defense Counsel's Advocacy.

The Court of Appeals reasoned that because Mr. Williams' attorney argued for a low-end standard range sentence, Mr. Williams' allocution for an exceptional downward sentence and the accompanying written allocution was not valid. It ruled, "In the absence of a request to proceed pro se, no valid request for an exceptional downward sentence occurred and the trial court therefore acted within its discretion when it imposed a standard range sentence...Nothing required the trial court to consider an exceptional mitigated sentence in this case where an exceptional sentence was not properly requested." Slip Op. at 6-7. (Emphasis added).

The Court referred to the request for a mitigated sentence as "hybrid representation." *Slip. Op.* at 6. This ruling violates both statutory and case law and the demands of due process.

a. Allocution by a criminal defendant is a statutory right and there is no requirement he proceed pro se in advocating for a particular sentence consideration.

A sentencing court "shall consider" the risk assessment and presentence reports, victim impact statements, and criminal history and allow argument from the prosecutor, the defense counsel, the offender...as to the sentence to be imposed. RCW 9.94A.500(1); *State v. Canfield*, 154 Wn.2d 698, 708, 116 P.3d 391(2005).

The statute requires the sentencing court to respect the defendant's opportunity to speak directly and personally to the court prior to imposition of sentence. It fully contemplates a criminal defendant has both an

attorney and a meaningful opportunity to speak on his own behalf *without* the burden of proceeding pro se. *Id.* at 701.

The Court's ruling in this case offends the statutory right to allocute. It potentially deprives every criminal defendant the right to allocute for a mitigated sentence unless he elects to proceed pro se at sentencing. The statute does not place this burden on a defendant.

b. The Court's ruling directly conflicts with the established federal and state case law.

In *Green v. United States*, 365 U.S. 301, 304, 81 S.Ct. 653, 5 L.Ed.2d 670 (1961), the Supreme Court emphasized the defendant's right to have a personal "opportunity to present to the court his plea in mitigation." and expressly rejected the "Government's contention that merely affording the defendant's counsel the opportunity to speak" met the protections of the right to allocute. *Green v. U.S.*, 365 U.S. at 304. The Court observed "the

most persuasive counsel may not be able to speak for a defendant as the defendant might, with halting eloquence, speak for himself." *Id.* The right to allocute is the defendant's opportunity to speak, and self-advocacy was not designed to be dependent on agreement with counsel's recommendation.

Similarly, the ruling here conflicts with this Court's holding in *Canfield*. *Canfield* held "[A]llocution is the right of a criminal defendant to make a personal argument or statement to the court before the pronouncement of sentence. *It is the defendant's opportunity to plead for mercy and present any information in mitigation of sentence." State v. Canfield, 154 Wn.2d at 701. The right of an accused to make a personal statement is "vital" given the "absolute liberty interest at stake." <i>Id.* at 705.

There has never been a requirement that a defendant proceed pro se to advocate for himself at sentencing. Nor is there any case law dictating that a

defendant who files his written allocution is engaging in a hybrid representation.

If the ruling in this case were to stand it hollows out the constraints on government by depriving the defendant of a meaningful opportunity to be heard. To permit a defendant's words to be considered only if he agrees with his attorney's recommendation is a meaningless gesture and offensive to due process. The right to advocate is personal. *Green*, 365 U.S. at 304

Finally, Mr. Williams' advocacy for an exceptional downward sentence is fully contemplated by the statute governing plea agreements: a sentencing court is not obligated to follow the recommendation contained in allowed plea agreements and the defendant must be so informed at the time of the plea. RCW 9.94A.431(2); State v. Coppin,57 Wn.App. 866, 791 P.2d 228 (1990).

The sentencing court is authorized to exercise its discretion in imposing sentence and is explicitly required

to inform the defendant of the court's discretion. When read together, the statutes demonstrate the sentencing court is not only required to tell the defendant it does not have to follow the recommendations of counsel *but also* is required to provide opportunity for the defendant to advocate for himself. Contrary to the ruling by the Court of Appeals here, the exceptional sentence was properly requested. *Slip Op.* at 7.

RAP 13.4(b) authorizes this Court to accept discretionary review if the decision by the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of this Court or a published decision of a lower appellate Court. The decision in this case is in conflict with *Canfield* and bears review on that basis.

Moreover, a petition may also be accepted if it involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). This decision eliminates the right of every criminal defendant

to allocute prior to sentencing by imposing the new requirement that he proceed pro se if he advocates inconsistent with his attorney's recommendation.

This court reviews questions of statutory
construction de novo. *State v. Hatchie,* 161 Wn.2d 390,
395, 166 P.3d 698 (2007). The statute protecting
allocution is clear and unambiguous. The ruling by the
Court of Appeals on the allocution statute is an erroneous
interpretation. As an issue of substantial public interest,
Mr. Williams asks this Court to accept his petition to
provide guidance on application of the statute.

 Mr. Williams Presented Sufficient And Compelling Argument For The Sentencing Court to Consider Imposing An Exceptional Downward Sentence.

Every defendant is entitled to ask the sentencing court for an exceptional sentence below the standard range and to have the request actually considered. *State v. Grayson,* 154 Wn.2d 333, 342, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005).

A sentencing court abuses its discretion when it fails to consider mitigating factors raised by the defendant. *State v. O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d at 697.

In the context of allocution, in *State v. Gonzales*,90 Wn.App. 852, 855, 954 P.2d 360 (1998), the Court was clear: "There is no question that a defendant convicted of a crime is allowed a right of allocution at the time of sentencing." *Gonzales*, 90 Wn.App. at 854. Unlike here, the *Gonzales* Court noted that while the defendant argued and bargained for his criminal history, with knowledge of the resulting sentencing range, and of the sentencing recommendation of the State, he "did not provide any argument for an exceptional sentence downward nor does the record disclose any basis for such a sentence."

If the ruling by the Court of Appeals in this case were to stand, a defendant who does not bring a basis and argument for an exceptional downward sentence

foregoes the opportunity. Yet, the defendant who does bring a basis and argument during allocution has not properly requested consideration unless his attorney agrees, or he proceeds pro se. Such an interpretation of the statute is unfounded. Case law is equally clear, every defendant is entitled to ask for an exceptional downward sentence and every defendant is entitled to have it actually considered.

This Court has recognized that trial courts are authorized to consider a defendant's youth, immaturity, impetuosity, failure to appreciate risks and consequences, as well as peer pressure, as mitigating factors justifying an exceptional sentence below the standard range. *State v. O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d at 696. This extends to individuals over the age of 18: "[D]ecreased moral culpability for criminal conduct may well persist past the age of 18" as the qualities that "distinguish juveniles from adults do not disappear when an individual turns 18 [just as] some

under 18 have already attained a level of maturity some adults will never reach." *Id.* at 695.

Here, Mr. Williams was 19 years old at the time of his arrest and conviction. At sentencing he provided the Court with a description of his youthfulness, immaturity, family circumstances, peer pressure, and his environment at the time of the crime. The allocution should have triggered the court's discretionary decision-making authority to impose an exceptional downward sentence. An exercise of discretion requires a meaningful and individualized consideration of the mitigating factors. O'Dell, 183 Wn.2d at 697. The court must "consider these circumstances, the convictions at issue, the standard sentencing ranges, and any other relevant factors- and should *then* determine whether to impose an exceptional sentence, taking care to thoroughly explain its reasoning." State v. Gilbert, 193 Wn.2d 169, 176, 438 P.3d 133 (2019).

In this case, the court did not address any of the mitigating factors and did not explain its reasoning when it imposed sentence. Whether the court did not consider an exceptional downward sentence because it did not believe it had the discretion, or simply failed to exercise discretion, the result is the same: the court abused its discretion. *In re Mulholland*, 161 Wn.2d 322, 332, 166 P.3d 677 (2007); *Ugolini v. Ugolini*,11 Wn.App.2d 443, 446, 453 P.3d 1027 (2019).

Mr. Williams advocacy was properly before the sentencing court. The sentencing court abused its discretion when it failed to consider an exceptional downward sentence. The remedy is remand with instructions to consider the mitigating factors for an exceptional downward sentence.

VI. CONCLUSION

Mr. Williams respectfully asks the Court to grant his petition for review as the ruling by the Court of Appeals is