FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/3/2021 1:38 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 1001673

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DEMARCUS WILLIAMS,

Petitioner.

Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 17-1-02234-1 Court of Appeals Cause No. 54313-3-II

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

Britta Ann Halverson Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 44108 / OID #91121 930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-2912

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. There is no basis for review where the Court of Appeals followed well-established law and properly concluded that the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it considered the legal arguments of defense counsel and the oral allocution of Williams before imposing a standard range sentence.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that Williams is not entitled to resentencing, because the trial court acted within its discretion when it imposed the standard range sentence requested by defense counsel. The trial court was not required to consider Williams's handwritten statement which amounted to a pro se legal memorandum for an exceptional mitigated sentence. The trial court afforded Williams the opportunity to speak at sentencing and present mitigating information, and Williams did just that. During his oral allocution, Williams discussed his personal circumstances and his youth, and he neither disagreed with defense counsel's standard range sentence recommendation nor requested a different sentence. Williams therefore fails to show that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP (4).² This Court should deny review.

1. Williams was given the opportunity to address the court at sentencing and present information in mitigation of his sentence.

"Allocution is the right of a criminal defendant to make a personal argument or statement to the court before the pronouncement of sentence." *State v. Canfield*, 154 Wn.2d 698, 701, 116 P.3d 391 (2005). "It is the defendant's opportunity to plead for mercy and present any information in mitigation of sentence." *Id*.

The right of allocution at sentencing is a statutory right, not a constitutional one. *Canfield*, 154 Wn.2d at 708. *See* RCW 9.94A.500(1) ("The court shall...allow arguments from the prosecutor, the defense counsel, [and] the offender...as to the sentence to be imposed."). Denial of the right to allocute is "'an

² Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4), this Court will only accept a petition for review if the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest.

error which is neither jurisdictional nor constitutional,' nor is it 'a fundamental defect that inherently results in a complete miscarriage of justice.'" *Canfield*, 154 Wn.2d at 702–03 (quoting *Hill v. United States*, 368 U.S. 424, 428, 82 S. Ct. 468, 7 L. Ed. 2d 417 (1962)). Moreover, the right of allocution is waived if not asserted at sentencing. *See Canfield*, 154 Wn.2d at 707.

Williams was afforded his statutory right of allocution by addressing the trial court at length on matters of mitigation during his resentencing hearing and prior to the imposition of his sentence. *See, e.g., In re Pers. Restraint of Echeverria*, 141 Wn.2d 323, 336, 6 P.3d 573 (2000). The record shows the trial court asked Williams, "[A]nything you wish to say to the Court before the Court passes sentence?" 4RP 10. In response, Williams apologized and proceeded to discuss his time in prison, his difficult upbringing, and his struggles with anxiety and depression. 4RP 10-15. Williams said,"[I] hope the courts will see I was truly a misguided youth who never intended harm to anyone, and that with the proper tools, which I've already began to utilize, and continue that behavior, I can truly be an asset to society." 4RP 14.

Williams also argued against the almost 15-year sentence that was imposed at his first sentencing hearing. 4RP 11-12; see CP 30. He did not refer to his written statement during his allocution. He did not specifically request an exceptional sentence below the standard range. He did not request any particular sentence. Williams argued he should not spend "18 years in the Department of Corrections" based on his juvenile criminal history and for a crime where no one got hurt. 4RP 14. Williams's allocution met the requirement of RCW 9.94A.500(1).

The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with *Green v. United States*, 365 U.S. 301, 81 S. Ct. 653, 5 L. Ed. 2d 670 (1961), in which the Court held that Federal Criminal Rule 32(a) requires the sentencing judge to address the defendant personally and allow the defendant to make a statement on his own behalf and present information in mitigation of punishment

before the judge imposes sentence. Here, the trial judge addressed Williams personally, asked if there was anything he wished to say before the court imposed its sentence, and allowed Williams to make a statement on his own behalf and present information in mitigation of punishment. 4RP 10-15.

Nor does the Court of Appeals decision conflict with this Court's holding in *Canfield*. In that case, the Court affirmed the principle that a criminal defendant has a statutory right of allocution at sentencing and recognized a limited right of allocution at revocation hearings. *Canfield*, 154 Wn.2d at 701. Williams's case does not involve a revocation hearing, and again, he was given the "opportunity to plead for mercy and present any information in mitigation of sentence." *See id*.

The fact that the trial court imposed a sentence at the low end of the standard range—as requested by defense counsel does not itself show that Williams was denied his right of allocution. *See In re Echeverria*, 141 Wn.2d at 338 (rejecting the petitioner's claim that he was not allowed to address the trial court and argue for leniency, which could have convinced the court to impose a less severe sentence). The trial court gave Williams the opportunity to speak at his resentencing hearing in accordance with RCW 9.94A.500(1). Although Williams may now, in hindsight, wish that he had presented a different argument to the trial court or said something more, that does not mean his statutory right of allocution was abridged or denied. Review of this case is not warranted.

2. Williams was represented by competent counsel at sentencing and did not have the right to file a pro se sentencing memorandum.

Criminal defendants have a constitutional right to counsel at sentencing. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Const. art. I, § 22; *State v. Robinson*, 153 Wn.2d 689, 694, 107 P.3d 90 (2005). They also have a constitutional right to waive assistance of counsel and represent themselves. *State v. Curry*, 191 Wn.2d 475, 482-83, 423 P.3d 179 (2018). "The right to self-representation in a criminal matter...is an all-or-nothing process." *State v. Romero*, 95 Wn. App. 323, 325–26, 975 P.2d 564 (1999). This Court has repeatedly stated, however, that there is no constitutional right to "hybrid representation," whereby a defendant serves as co-counsel with his attorney. *See State v. DeWeese*, 117 Wn.2d 369, 379, 816 P.2d 1 (1991); *State v. Bebb*, 108 Wn.2d 515, 524, 740 P.2d 829 (1987); *see also, State v. Hightower*, 36 Wn. App. 536, 541, 676 P.2d 1016, *review denied*, 101 Wn.2d 1013 (1984) ("[T]here is clearly no constitutional right to hybrid representation in this state where the rights in question are granted in the disjunctive.") (citing Const. art. I, § 22).

Here, Williams was represented by competent counsel at his resentencing hearing. *See* 4RP 3-10; CP 41-100 (counsel's sentencing memorandum). Williams did not request to proceed pro se, and he had no right to "hybrid" representation whereby he acted as co-counsel with his attorney. *DeWeese*, 117 Wn.2d at 379; *Bebb*, 108 Wn.2d at 524. When a defendant is represented by competent counsel, the attorney has the ultimate authority in deciding which *legal* arguments to advance. *State v. Bergstrom*, 162 Wn.2d 87, 95, 169 P.3d 816 (2007). As a result, represented defendants have no constitutional right to file pleadings with the trial court. *State v. Blanchey*, 75 Wn.2d 926, 938, 454 P.2d 841 (1969).

Williams filed a written pleading requesting an exceptional mitigated sentence while he was represented by counsel. CP 122-128. In the pleading, Williams relied on both caselaw and statutory authority in support of his request. Id. A trial court is vested with the discretion to decline to consider pro se motions filed by a defendant while the defendant is represented by competent counsel. In re Pers. Restraint of Quinn, 154 Wn. App. 816, 841, 226 P.3d 208 (2010) (citing *Bergstrom*, 162 Wn.2d at 97). Thus, the trial court in this case was not required to consider the legal arguments raised by Williams in his pro se sentencing memorandum. See also, State v. Thompson, 169 Wn. App. 436, 494, 290 P.3d 996 (2012) (trial court has no duty to rule on pro se motions filed by a defendant who is represented by an attorney). Williams's own competent counsel provided the trial court with the appropriate legal authority in support of its sentencing recommendation. CP 41-45; 4RP 5-10.

This does not mean that Williams was denied his right to address the trial court at sentencing and present mitigating information, as Williams suggests in his petition for review. While the legal arguments were for defense counsel to make, Williams had every opportunity to provide the court with information regarding his personal circumstances and argue for leniency. As further argued above, Williams addressed the trial court at length before he was sentenced. Williams's statutory right of allocution was not violated.

Williams argues that the Court of Appeals decision in this case "offends the statutory right to allocute" and "potentially deprives every criminal defendant the right to allocute for a mitigated sentence *unless* he elects to proceed pro se at sentencing." Pet. Rev. at 8 (emphasis in original). The decision does no such thing. The Court of Appeals decision merely recognizes that a trial court is not obligated to consider *legal* *motions and memoranda* filed by a defendant who is represented by competent counsel. A criminal defendant remains free to present any mitigating information at sentencing, request leniency, and give argument as to the sentence to be imposed. Williams did not argue for a particular sentence, but he was given the opportunity to do so, and he presented mitigating information for the court's consideration. The Court of Appeals did not hold that a defendant must proceed pro se to advocate for himself at sentencing. *See* Pet. Rev. at 9. What the Court of Appeals did hold, in accordance with this Court's decisions in *DeWeese*, *Bebb*, and *Blanchey*, is that a defendant is not entitled to file legal pleadings when represented by counsel.

The Court of Appeals found the trial court was not required to consider Williams's legal arguments in his pro se sentencing memorandum. This decision does not conflict with a decision of this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and does not involve an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4). This Court should therefore deny review.

3. The trial court properly exercised its discretion when it imposed the standard range sentence requested by defense counsel.

Even if the trial court was required to consider Williams's pro se request for an exceptional mitigated sentence, mentioned only in his written sentencing memorandum, the record shows the trial court did consider that request when it read the memorandum, listened to Williams's allocution, and then imposed sentence.

Under the Sentencing Reform Act of 1981 (SRA), a sentencing court must generally impose a sentence within the standard range. RCW 9.94A.505(2)(a)(i); *see State v. Graham*, 181 Wn.2d 878, 882, 337 P.3d 319 (2014). A standard range sentence "shall not be appealed." RCW 9.94A.585(1); *see* CP 15. "However, this prohibition does not bar a party's right to challenge the underlying legal conclusions and determinations by which a court comes to a particular sentencing provision. Thus, it is well established that appellate review is still available for the correction of legal errors or abuses of discretion in the

determination of what sentence applies." *State v. Williams*, 149 Wn.2d 143, 147, 65 P.3d 1214 (2003) (internal citations omitted).

The trial court may impose an exceptional sentence below the standard range if it finds mitigating circumstances by a preponderance of the evidence. RCW 9.94A.535(1). "While no defendant is entitled to an exceptional sentence below the standard range, every defendant is entitled to ask the trial court to consider such a sentence and to have the alternative actually considered." *State v. Grayson*, 154 Wn.2d 333, 342, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005). The defendant bears the burden of proving there are substantial and compelling reasons justifying an exceptional sentence below the standard range. RCW 9.94A.535(1); *see State v. Ramos*, 187 Wn.2d 420, 434, 387 P.3d 650 (2017).

A sentencing court's decision to deny an exceptional sentence is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. McGill*, 112 Wn. App. 95, 100, 47 P.3d 173 (2002). A defendant may not appeal the imposition of a standard range sentence unless the

court categorically refuses to exercise its discretion or denies an exceptional sentence based on impermissible reasons. *Grayson*, 154 Wn.2d at 341-42; *McGill*, 112 Wn. App. at 99-100.

A court abuses its discretion when it denies an exceptional sentence based on an incorrect belief that it is not authorized to grant the sentence. *State v. O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d 680, 696-97, 358 P.3d 359 (2015). The failure to consider an exceptional sentence authorized by law is an abuse of discretion subject to reversal. *Grayson*, 154 Wn.2d at 342. However, "[w]hen a court has considered the facts and concluded there is no legal or factual basis for an exceptional sentence, it has exercised its discretion, and the defendant cannot appeal that ruling." *McGill*, 112 Wn. App. at 100.

Here, Williams challenged his standard range sentence on the basis that the trial court allegedly abused its discretion by failing to consider his "youthful characteristics" as a mitigating factor for an exceptional downward sentence. To the extent the trial court was required to consider Williams's pro se request for an exceptional sentence, the record indicates the court did just that when it read Williams's submitted materials, listened to his allocution, and then imposed sentence.

A defendant's youth is a possible mitigating factor for a court to consider when deciding whether to impose an exceptional sentence. *O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d at 689. *See also*, RCW 9.94A.535(1)(e). However, "age is not a per se mitigating factor automatically entitling every youthful defendant to an exceptional sentence." *O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d at 695.

In *O'Dell*, the defendant had just turned 18 when he had sex with a 12-year-old girl. 183 Wn.2d at 683. A jury convicted him of second degree rape of a child. *Id.* at 684. At sentencing, O'Dell's counsel asked the court to impose an exceptional sentence below the standard range, because O'Dell's youthfulness impacted his ability to appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct. *Id.* at 685. The trial court ruled that it could not consider age as a mitigating circumstance, because O'Dell was a legal adult. *Id.* This Court held that the trial court abused its discretion, because it erroneously believed that it could not consider youth as a mitigating factor and therefore failed to consider whether O'Dell's youth impacted his culpability. *Id.* at 689, 696-97.

Here, Williams was 19 years old at the time he committed his offense. CP 110; 4RP 8. Defense counsel asked the court to consider his youth in imposing a standard range sentence, and in his pro se sentencing memorandum, Williams asked the court to consider his youth in imposing an exceptional sentence downward.

Unlike in *O'Dell*, the trial court did not categorically refuse to exercise its discretion to impose an exceptional sentence. It did not deny an exceptional sentence based on impermissible reasons. And nothing in the record indicates that the court believed it was prohibited from considering youthfulness as a mitigating factor. The trial court considered any motion for an exceptional sentence when it read Williams's written pleading and heard his allocution. *See* 4RP 9, 15 (court notes it read Williams's statement). The court implicitly denied Williams's pro se request when it imposed the standard range sentence.

Because the trial court considered the facts and concluded there was no basis for an exceptional sentence, it exercised its discretion, and Williams cannot appeal that ruling. *McGill*, 112 Wn. App. at 100. A trial court is not required to impose an exceptional sentence for every "youthful" offender. *See O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d at 695. Defense counsel asked the court to take Williams's youth into consideration in imposing the low end of the standard range, and the court did just that. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in imposing the standard range sentence requested by defense counsel. Therefore, this Court should deny review.

V. CONCLUSION

Williams fails to show review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4). For the reasons set forth above, the State respectfully requests this Court deny review.

This document contains 4344 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.